

### **COUNCIL DISTRICT 6 PROJECT REVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES**

Wednesday February 14, 2024 – 5:30 p.m.

Planning and Development Department – Development Services Division

Zoom Meeting

### **CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL**

The meeting was called to order at 5:40 P.M.

Present - 5: Danae Garza (Chairperson), Bonna Rogers-Neufeld (Vice Chairperson),

Denise Duerksen-Nemeroff, Lois Murphy, Robert Nielsen,

Absent – 3: Janet Mikkelson, Kevin Wray, Geraldine Wong

District 6 Staff: None

Planning Staff: Supervising Planner, Robert Holt; Planner III, John George; Planner I,

Valeria Rameriz; Planner I, Matthew Woodward

Planning Liaison: Planner II, Michael Tran

Planning Staff provided the Committee Members with the new procedure changes to how the recommendations will be taken for each item.

### 1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

A. February 14, 2024 Meeting Agenda

Committee Member Rogers-Neufeld moved to approve the agenda, seconded by Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff. The motion carried unanimously, 5 votes to 0.

### 2. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR

- A. Minutes for January 10, 2023
- **B. Text Amendment Application No. P23-03987** was filed by the City of Fresno and pertains to all property Citywide. The applicant requests authorization to amend Fresno Municipal Code Section 15-4304 to change the text from "and" to "or" as it relates to findings for approval for tentative parcel and tract map revisions.

The Committee requested an explanation for the text change.

Planning Staff responded and explained the change from "and" to "or."

Committee Member Nielsen moved to approve the agenda, seconded by Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff. The motion carried unanimously, 5 votes to 0

### 3. PROJECT REVIEW - CONTINUED MATTERS

A. Plan Amendment-Rezone Application No. P20-00213, Development Permit Application No. P22-03749, and Planned Development Application No. P23-03173

### Minutes - Council District 6 Project Review Committee February 14, 2024 Page 2

These applications were filed by Dirk Poeschel and pertain to the approximately 3.53 acres of property located on the northwest corner of East Behymer and North Chestnut Avenues. The Plan Amendment-Rezone application requests authorization to amend the Fresno General Plan to change the planned land use designation from Employment – Office to Urban Neighborhood Density Residential and change the zone district from O (Office) to RM-2 (Multi-Family Residential, Urban Neighborhood). The Development Permit application requests authorization to develop a 48-unit multi-family gated apartment complex. The Planned Development application requests authorization to modify the RM-2 development standards to allow for a reduced front yard setback.

The applicant presented the item to the committee.

The Committee asked questions regarding height of the buildings, FID easement, the neighborhood outreach meeting results, security, parking accessibility, and street parking along North Chestnut Avenue.

The applicant and Planning staff responded to the questions posed by the committee members.

Chair Garza, Vice Chair Rogers-Neufeld, and Committee Member Nielsen approved with the following recommendations: 1) the western portion of the property (FID easement area) be secured, 2) the pool hours to be limited and not to be open for 24 hours, and 3) there be streeting parking along North Chestnut Avenue.

Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff and Committee Member Murphy approved the project with no further comment or recommendations.

### 4. PROJECT REVIEW - NEW MATTERS

### A. Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04071

Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04071 was filed by Deoksang Yu and pertains to the 0.96-acre lot located at 673 E. Nees Avenue. The applicant is proposing a new restaurant with alcohol sales. ABC office requires the Conditional use permit approved by the Planning department. The parcel is zoned CC/UGM/cz.

The applicant presented the item to the committee.

The Committee asked questions regarding the business and its operations.

The applicant responded to the questions posed by the committee members.

Chair Garza, Vice Chair Rogers-Neufeld, Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff, Committee Member Murphy, and Committee Member Nielsen approved the project with no further comment or recommendations.

### B. Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04163

Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04163 was filed by Jonathan Aviles and pertains to the 0.60-acre lot located at 424 E Bullard Avenue. The applicant is proposing a new restaurant with alcohol sales. ABC office requires the Conditional use permit approved by the Planning department. The parcel is zoned CC.

### Minutes - Council District 6 Project Review Committee February 14, 2024 Page 3

The applicant presented the item to the committee.

The Committee asked questions regarding the business and its operations.

The applicant responded to the questions posed by the committee members.

Chair Garza, Vice Chair Rogers-Neufeld, Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff, Committee Member Murphy, and Committee Member Nielsen approved the project with no further comment or recommendations.

### C. Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04108

Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04108 was filed by Gurjeevan Gill and pertains to the 0.96 acre lot located at 6460 N Blackstone Ave. The applicant is requesting to upgrade their existing Type 42 alcohol license to a Type 48. ABC office requires the Conditional use permit approved by the Planning department. The parcel is zoned CMX.

The applicant presented the item to the committee.

The Committee asked questions regarding the business and its operations.

The applicant responded to the questions posed by the committee members.

Chair Garza, Vice Chair Rogers-Neufeld, Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff, Committee Member Murphy, and Committee Member Nielsen approved the project with no further comment or recommendations.

### 5. COMMITTEE CONSULTATION AND UNSCHEDULED MATTERS

### A. Open Discussion

None.

### 6. ADJOURNMENT

The Committee having concluded all business adjourned at 6:31 P.M.



### **COUNCIL DISTRICT 6 PROJECT REVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES**

Wednesday March 13, 2024 - 5:30 p.m.

Planning and Development Department – Development Services Division Zoom Meeting

### **CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL**

The meeting was called to order at 5:37 P.M.

Present – 5: Danae Garza (Chairperson), Janet Mikkelson Lois Murphy, Geraldine Wong, Kevin Wrav

Absent – 3: Bonna Rogers-Neufeld (Vice Chairperson), Denise Duerksen-Nemeroff, Robert Nielsen

District 6 Staff: None

Planning Staff: Planner II, Saul Perez Planning Liaison: Planner II, Michael Tran

### 1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

### A. March 13, 2024 Meeting Agenda

Committee Member Wong moved to approve the agenda, seconded by Committee Member Mikkelson. The motion carried unanimously, 6 votes to 0.

### 2. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR

### A. Minutes for February 14, 2024

Committee Member Wong moved to approve the Consent Calendar with the following amendment be made: 1) include the procedural changes established during the February 14<sup>th</sup> meeting, seconded by Committee Member Wray. The motion carried unanimously, 6 votes to 0.

### 3. PROJECT REVIEW – CONTINUED MATTERS

None

### 4. PROJECT REVIEW - NEW MATTERS

### A. Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04302

Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04302 was filed by Roy Nassar and pertains to restaurant Zaatar Bistro at a tenant space located at 1568 East Champlain Avenue #105 in the Via Montana Shopping Center at the northeast corner of East Champlain and East Cedar Avenues. The applicant requests authorization to obtain a State of California Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Type 47 (Beer, Wine, and Distilled Spirits) License for the restaurant. Hours of operation are Monday to Sunday from 6 AM to 11PM. The parcel is zoned CC/UGM/cz.

The applicant presented the item to the committee.

Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff arrives at 5:44pm.

# Minutes - Council District 6 Project Review Committee March 13, 2024 Page 2

The Committee asked questions regarding the business and its operations.

The applicant responded to the questions posed by the committee members.

Chair Garza, Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff, Committee Member Murphy, Committee Member Mikkelson, Committee Member Wong, and Committee Member Wray approved the project with no further comment or recommendations.

### B. Conditional Use Permit Application No. P23-04163

Conditional Use Permit Application No. P24-00288 was filed by Robby Antoyan of Antoyan Architecture and pertains to a portion of the 0.90 acres located at 1974 East Copper Avenue #106. The applicant requests authorization to obtain a State of California Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Type 74 (Craft Distiller) License for the proposed distillery/tasting room, Copper River Distilling Company. The Lounge will operate Wed-Friday evenings from 4pm-10pm, Saturday from 12pm-10pm and Sunday from 12pm-4pm. The parcel is zoned CC/UGM/cz.

The applicant presented the item to the committee.

The Committee asked questions regarding the business and its operations.

The applicant responded to the questions posed by the committee members.

Chair Garza, Committee Member Duerksen-Nemeroff, Committee Member Murphy, Committee Member Mikkelson, Committee Member Wong, and Committee Member Wray approved the project with no further comment or recommendations.

### 5. COMMITTEE CONSULTATION AND UNSCHEDULED MATTERS

### A. Open Discussion

Committee members expressed their concerns for the new procedure changes from the last meeting on February 14, 2024. Committee members voiced their worry about being able to continue items and have them guaranteed to come back. Committee members also voiced their concerns on how recommendations are being recorded and how they are not being captured for the community of District 6 as a collective body but instead being recorded as individual members thoughts and concerns.

### 6. ADJOURNMENT

The Committee having concluded all business adjourned at 6:33 P.M.

# Project Item 4A – Text Amendment Application No. P24-01100

Text Amendment Application No. P24-01100 – an amendment to Section 15-2706 of the FMC, otherwise known as the Responsible Neighborhood Market Act.

**Text Amendment Application No. P24-01100** proposes to amend the Citywide Development Code and modify Section 15-2706; otherwise known as the Responsible Neighborhood Market Act (RNMA). The RNMA provides regulations relating to the establishment of alcohol licenses and the sale of alcoholic beverages for off-site consumption.

The proposed text amendment would allow flexibility for full-service grocery stores seeking to operate by allowing an additional exception to the Location Restrictions and an exemption to the Cancel & Transfer Provisions. In addition, the proposed text amendment defines Full-Service Grocery Store and its exclusions.

### **Summary of Text Amendment**

Text Amendment Application No. P24-01100, proposes to amend Section 15-2706 of the Citywide Development Code that conditionally permits alcohol uses in Mixed Use, Commercial, Employment, Public and Semi-Public, and Downtown zone districts. In addition, the proposed text amendment defines Full-Service Grocery Store. As proposed, the proposed Text Amendment includes:

- 1. Provide flexibility for Full-Service Grocery Stores Seeking to Operate. The proposed text amendment would allow more flexibility for Full-Service Grocery Stores seeking to operate by adding an additional exception to Location Restrictions and allowing an exemption to the Cancel & Transfer Provisions.
  - a. Full-Service Grocery Store Exception. Establishments generally known as supermarkets and other grocery retailers (except convenience retailers) primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food, such as canned and frozen foods; fresh fruits and vegetables; and fresh and prepared meats, fish, and poultry. Included in this industry are delicatessen-type establishments primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food. This exemption excludes convenience retailers, gasoline stations with convenience stores, department stores, pharmacies and drug retailers, warehouse clubs and supercenters, and all other general merchandise retailers.
  - b. **Exemption from the Cancel and Transfer Requirements.** Establishments with the primary use, based on information provided by the applicant, that has been determined by the Review Authority to meet the definition of a Full-Service Grocery Store, including a supermarket, neighborhood grocery store or a Healthy Food Grocer as defined in the Fresno Municipal. This exemption excludes convenience retailers, gasoline stations with convenience stores,

department stores, pharmacies and drug retailers, warehouse clubs and supercenters, and all other general merchandise retailers.

### 2. Definitions to be Added to: Article 68 – Terms and Definitions, Section 15-6802.

- a. Full-Service Grocery Store. Establishments generally known as supermarkets and other grocery retailers (except convenience retailers) primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food, such as canned and frozen foods; fresh fruits and vegetables; and fresh and prepared meats, fish, and poultry. Included in this industry are delicatessen-type establishments primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food. This definition excludes convenience retailers, gasoline stations with convenience stores, department stores, pharmacies and drug retailers, warehouse clubs and supercenters, and all other general merchandise retailers.
- b. **Convenience Retailers.** This U.S. industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing a limited line of groceries that generally includes milk, bread, soda, and snacks, such as convenience stores or food marts (except those operating fuel pumps).
- c. Gasoline Stations with Convenience Stores. This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing automotive fuels (e.g., gasoline, diesel fuel, gasohol, alternative fuels) in combination with a limited line of groceries. These establishments can either be in a convenience store (i.e., food mart) setting or a gasoline station setting. These establishments may also provide automotive repair services.
- d. **Department Stores.** This industry comprises establishments generally known as department stores that have separate departments for general lines of new merchandise, such as apparel, jewelry, home furnishings, and toys, with no one merchandise line predominating. Department stores may sell perishable groceries, such as fresh fruits, vegetables, and dairy products, but such sales are insignificant. Department stores with fixed point-of-sale locations may have separate customer checkout areas in each department, central customer checkout areas, or both.
- e. **Pharmacies and drug retailers.** This industry comprises establishments generally known as pharmacies and drug retailers engaged in retailing prescription or nonprescription drugs and medicines.
- f. Warehouse clubs and supercenters. This U.S. industry comprises establishments generally known as warehouse clubs, superstores, or supercenters, primarily engaged in retailing a general line of groceries,

including a significant amount and variety of fresh fruits, vegetables, dairy products, meats, and other perishable groceries, in combination with a general line of new merchandise, such as apparel, furniture, and appliances.

g. All other general merchandise retailers. This U.S. industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new and used general merchandise (except department stores, warehouse clubs, superstores, and supercenters). These establishments retail a general line of new and used merchandise, such as apparel, automotive parts, dry goods, groceries, hardware, housewares or home furnishings, and other lines in limited amounts, with none of the lines predominating. This industry also includes establishments primarily engaged in retailing a general line of new and used merchandise on an auction basis.

### Proposed Text Amendment - Responsible Neighborhood Market Act

<u>Goal:</u> To exempt Full-Service Grocery Stores from the Location Restrictions of New Establishments and the Cancel and Transfer provisions set forth in SEC. 15-2706 (F) and SEC. 15-2706 (S).

### **Summary of Text Amendment:**

- 1) Adds "Full-Service Grocery Store" into General Market: Article 67 Use Classifications Sec. 15-6704. COMMERCIAL USE CLASSIFICATIONS.
- 2) Adds definitions to Article 68 Terms and Definitions, Section 15-6802 Definitions:
  - a) Full-Service Grocery Store
  - b) Convenience Retailers
  - c) Gasoline stations with convenience stores
  - d) Department stores,
  - e) Pharmacies and drug retailers
  - f) Warehouse clubs and supercenters
  - g) All other general merchandise retailers.
- 3) Adds Full-Service Grocery Store as a separate exception for Location Restrictions: SEC. 15-2706 (F)(8)
- 4) Adds Full-Service Grocery Store as an exemption to the Cancel and Transfer Provision SEC. 15-2706 (S)(3)

# <u>To be added to Article 67 – Use Classifications Sec. 15-6704. - COMMERCIAL USE CLASSIFICATIONS.</u>

**Food and Beverage Sales.** Retail sales of food and beverages for off-site preparation and consumption. Typical uses include food markets, groceries, and liquor stores.

General Market. Retail food markets of food and grocery items for offsite preparation and consumption. Typical uses include full-service grocery stores, supermarkets, neighborhood grocery stores, and specialty food stores, such as retail bakeries; candy, nuts, and confectionary stores; meat or produce markets; vitamin and health food stores; cheese stores; and delicatessens. This classification may include small-scale specialty food production such as pasta shops with retail sales.

### To be added to Article 68 – Terms and Definitions, Section 15-6802 - Definitions

### 1) Full-Service Grocery Store

Establishments generally known as supermarkets and other grocery retailers (except convenience retailers) primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food, such as canned and frozen foods; fresh fruits and vegetables; and fresh and prepared meats, fish, and poultry. Included in this industry are delicatessen-type establishments primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food. This definition excludes convenience retailers, gasoline stations with convenience stores, department stores, pharmacies and drug retailers, warehouse clubs and supercenters, and all other general merchandise retailers.

### 2) Convenience Retailers

This U.S. industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing a limited line of groceries that generally includes milk, bread, soda, and snacks, such as convenience stores or food marts (except those operating fuel pumps).

### 3) Gasoline Stations with Convenience Stores

This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing automotive fuels (e.g., gasoline, diesel fuel, gasohol, alternative fuels) in combination with a limited line of groceries. These establishments can either be in a convenience store (i.e., food mart) setting or a gasoline station setting. These establishments may also provide automotive repair services.

### 3) Department Stores

This industry comprises establishments generally known as department stores that have separate departments for general lines of new merchandise, such as apparel, jewelry, home furnishings, and toys, with no one merchandise line predominating. Department stores may sell perishable groceries, such as fresh fruits, vegetables, and dairy products, but such sales are insignificant.

Department stores with fixed point-of-sale locations may have separate customer checkout areas in each department, central customer checkout areas, or both.

### 4) Pharmacies and Drug Retailers

This industry comprises establishments generally known as pharmacies and drug retailers engaged in retailing prescription or nonprescription drugs and medicines.

### 5) All Other General Merchandise Retailers

This U.S. industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new and used general merchandise (except department stores, warehouse clubs, superstores, and supercenters). These establishments retail a general line of new and used merchandise, such as apparel, automotive parts, dry goods, groceries, hardware, housewares or home furnishings, and other lines in limited amounts, with none of the lines predominating. This industry also includes establishments primarily engaged in retailing a general line of new and used merchandise on an auction basis.

### 6) Warehouse Clubs and Supercenters

This U.S. industry comprises establishments generally known as warehouse clubs, superstores, or supercenters, primarily engaged in retailing a general line of groceries, including a significant amount and variety of fresh fruits, vegetables, dairy products, meats, and other perishable groceries, in combination with a general line of new merchandise, such as apparel, furniture, and appliances.

# SEC. 15-2706. ALCOHOL SALES—THE RESPONSIBLE NEIGHBORHOOD MARKET ACT.

- A. **Regulations for On-Site Consumption.** Refer to Section 15-2751, Restaurants with Alcohol Sales, Bars, Nightclubs, and Lounges for standards.
- B. **Regulations for Wholesalers.** Operators who hold a Type 17 ABC license for the purpose of selling beer and wine to retailers or a Type 18 ABC license for the purpose of selling distilled spirits to retailers, who meet the definition of a "wholesaler" within the meaning of California Business and Professions code section 23021, and who are located within the City of Fresno are subject to the following restrictions:
  - 1. Wholesalers shall not supply establishments (as defined below) with any items that would violate this section of the Fresno Municipal Code.
- C. **Purpose.** The following regulations, known as "The Responsible Neighborhood Market Act," are for establishments that sell alcoholic beverages for off-site consumption not otherwise exempt under Section 15-2706.D.2 (henceforth "establishment"). These establishments possess certain characteristics that have the potential to cause deleterious effects and nuisances on surrounding neighborhoods and businesses, especially when such establishments are concentrated near one another. In order to ensure that establishments operate in a manner that is mutually beneficial to surrounding uses and to also provide mechanisms to prevent and correct any associated problems, the following special regulations are provided.

### D. Applicability.

- 1. New or Expanded Use. Any proposed new establishment or any existing establishment that requests to modify their alcohol or business license type(s), reinstate their alcohol or business license(s) after an expiration or revocation, extend their hours of alcohol sales, or expand their floor area for retail sales of alcohol, shall obtain a Conditional Use Permit issued in compliance with the standards of this section. An existing establishment that expands their floor area for non-alcohol related retail sales is allowed to retain the conditions on their existing Conditional Use Permit in relation to alcohol requirements. Should an establishment not comply with the strict application of the regulations provided for in this section, said improvements shall be made prior to commencing the sale of alcoholic beverages. Violation of these standards at any time may result in the revocation of a Conditional Use Permit.
- 2. **Exemptions.** This section does not apply to the following:
  - a. Establishments that serve alcohol for on-site consumption, where an off-site sales component is incidental to the main use and as permitted through an establishment's ABC Conditional Use Permit License Type.
  - b. Temporary uses issued a Temporary License by the California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control and established in compliance with all City laws and ordinances.

- 3. **Conditional Use Permit.** Conditional Use Permits issued pursuant to this section shall also be subject to the following:
  - a. ABC Conditional Use Permit:
    - i. Establishments seeking to sell alcoholic beverages for off-site consumption, whether as a new or expanded use, shall obtain a Conditional Use Permit for alcohol sales.
- E. **Modifications to Existing Establishments.** A modification to an existing establishment shall not be approved when a condition exists that has caused or resulted in repeated activities that are harmful to the health, peace, or safety of persons residing or working in the surrounding area.
- F. Location Restrictions for New Establishments. The following location restrictions apply to new establishments, unless the establishment can be found qualified for exception by the Review Authority. These location restrictions shall apply to existing establishments that must obtain a CUP pursuant to this ordinance due to proposed expansion or improvement of an existing use that is currently operating pursuant to a CUP issued prior to the effective date of this ordinance unless the proposed expansion or improvement is only with respect to a necessary repair, or bringing the existing establishment into compliance with current building codes, including but not limited to the California Building Code, the California Fire Code, and the California Electrical Code, as may be amended and any local amendments thereto.
  - 1. **Near Sensitive Uses.** The establishment shall not be located within 1,000 feet of the following:
    - a. A public park, playground, recreational area including a trail that is immediately adjacent to a public park, or youth facility, including a nursery school, preschool, or day care facility;
    - b. A public or private State-licensed or accredited school; or
    - c. An alcohol or other drug abuse recovery or treatment facility.
  - 2. **Near Other Alcoholic Beverage Establishments.** The establishment shall not be located within 1,000 feet of an existing establishment, nor may it lead to a grouping of more than four establishments within a 1,000 foot radius. Notwithstanding this requirement, an establishment shall not be located within 500 feet of an existing establishment when an establishment is located in a Census Tract that is not oversaturated with off-sale licenses.
  - 3. **Within High Crime Areas.** The establishment shall not be located in an area of high crime, as defined by the California Business and Professions Code 23958.4(a)(1) et seq., and as determined by the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control.
  - 4. **Within High Concentration Areas.** The establishment shall not be located in an area of high concentration, as defined by the California Business and Professions Code 23958.4(a)(3) et seq., and as determined by the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control.

- 5. **Citywide Ratio.** No establishment shall be granted a Conditional Use Permit under this Section if the number of sites selling alcohol for off-site consumption will exceed one license per 2,500 residents. This ratio requirement shall not apply to: (1) existing establishments that must obtain a CUP pursuant to this ordinance due to proposed expansion or improvement of an existing use that is currently operating pursuant to a CUP issued prior to the effective date of this ordinance; (2) new establishments that utilize the Cancel and Transfer provisions stated in Section S., below: or (3) an existing establishment that is in good standing which has a change in the ABC License holder, specifically partner franchisees.
- 6. **Exceptions.** A new establishment may be excepted from location restrictions if the Review Authority determines all of the following:
  - a. The proposed use is not located within an area in which the Chief of Police has determined, based upon quantifiable information, that the proposed use: (a) would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare of persons located in the area; or (b) would increase the severity of existing law enforcement or public nuisance problems in the area.
  - b. The proposed off-premises sale of alcoholic beverages is incidental and appurtenant to a larger retail use and provides for a more complete and convenient shopping experience.
  - c. The proposed outlet for the off-premises sale of alcoholic beverages would act as a public convenience or necessity to an underserved portion of the community and/or enhance the vitality of an existing commercial area without presenting a significant adverse impact on public health or safety.
  - d. The primary use of the establishment, based on information provided by the applicant, has been determined by the Review Authority to meet the definition of a General Market including a supermarket, neighborhood grocery store or a Healthy Food Grocer.
- 7. **Existing establishment relocation exception.** An existing establishment that relocates and holds a Conditional Use Permit pursuant to this ordinance may be excepted from the location restrictions if the proposed relocation is located: (a) across the street and within a 1/4 mile radius of the current location; (b) within the same Council District: (c) within the same Census Tract: (d) not within 500 feet of a nursery school, preschool, a public or private State-licensed or accredited school or daycare facility; and (e) not in an area of high crime, as defined by the California Business and Professions Code 23958.4(a)(1) et seq., and as determined by the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control. The original location will be required to forfeit its existing alcohol entitlements for the original location. Written notice shall be provided to all property owners within a 1,500-foot radius of the subject property for the proposed relocation.
- 8. **Full-Service Grocery Store exception.** New establishments may be excepted from the location restrictions if the primary use of the establishment, based on information provided by the applicant, that has been determined by the Review Authority to meet

the definition of a Full-Service Grocery Store, including a supermarket, neighborhood grocery store or a Healthy Food Grocer as defined in the Fresno Municipal Code.

### G. Landscaping.

- 1. **New Buildings.** Landscaping shall be provided per the underlying District.
- 2. **Existing Buildings.** Perimeter landscaping and Parking Lot Shading shall be provided per the underlying district. The Review Authority, at their discretion, may make exceptions to the prescribed standards, however in no case shall the reduction result in a net reduction of 35 percent or greater in the amount of landscaping provided. Landscaping may also be aggregated to minimize the impact on existing parking areas.
- H. **Lighting.** The exterior of the premise, including adjacent public sidewalks and all parking lots under the control of the establishment, shall be illuminated during all hours of darkness during which the premises are open for business in a manner so that persons standing in those areas at night are identifiable by law enforcement personnel. However, required illumination shall be placed and/or shielded in a way that minimizes interference with the neighboring residences.

### I. Litter and Graffiti.

- 1. Trash and recycling receptacles shall be provided by public entrances and exits from the building.
- 2. The owner or operator shall provide for daily removal of trash, litter, and debris from premises and on all abutting sidewalks within 20 feet of the premises.
- 3. The owner or operator shall remove graffiti within 48 hours.
- J. **Pay Phones and Vending Machines.** External pay phones and snack vending machines are prohibited.

### K. Video Surveillance.

- 1. Establishments must equip a fully functional color digital video camera system.
- 2. The system must continuously record, store, and be capable of playing back images and be fully functional at all times, including during any hours the business is closed. The system must be maintained in a secured location inside of the business.
- 3. The system shall have the correct date and time stamped onto the image at all times.
- 4. The camera storage capacity should be for at least two weeks (14 calendar days). Such cameras must be capable of producing a retrievable and identifiable image than can be made a permanent record and that can be enlarged through projection or other means.
- 5. If utilizing a digital video recorder, it must be capable of storing at least 14 days of real-time activities.
- 6. The system shall be capable of producing a CD or digital playback feature and may be provided to an authorized representative of the Fresno Police Department within 24 hours of the initial request relating to a criminal investigation only.

- 7. The interior of the business must have at least one camera placed to focus on each cash register transaction to include the clerk as well as the customer waiting area.
- 8. There shall be four exterior cameras placed so as to record activities in the primary customer parking areas of their business. These cameras should be of sufficient quality to be able to identify persons and or vehicles utilizing the business parking lot.
- 9. All interior cameras shall record in color.
- 10. All exterior cameras shall record in color and have automatic low light switching capabilities to black and white. Exterior cameras should be in weatherproof enclosures and located in a manner that will prevent or reduce the possibility of vandalism.

### L. Signage.

- 1. The provisions specified under Article 26, Signs and this subsection shall apply. Where conflict may occur between the provisions of Article 26 and this subsection, the more restrictive provisions shall govern.
- 2. The following copy is required to be prominently posted in a readily visible manner on an interior wall or fixture and not on windows:
  - a. "California State Law Prohibits the Sale of Alcoholic Beverages to Persons Under 21 Years of Age."
  - b. "No Loitering is Allowed On or In Front of These Premises."
  - c. "No Open Alcoholic Beverage Containers are Allowed on These Premises."
- 3. No more than 5 percent of the square footage of each window and clear door that is visible to the public from a public thoroughfare, sidewalk, or parking lot of an off-sale alcohol retail outlet shall bear advertising, signs, or other obstructions of any sort.
  - a. The area covered by signs or advertising includes all clear areas within signs or advertising, such as the clear area within neon signs.
  - b. Signage, advertising, or other obstructions inside or outside the establishment that are not physically attached to the windows or doors, but are visible from a public thoroughfare, sidewalk, or parking lot in the same manner as if they were physically attached is included in the 5 percent limitation.
  - c. Any signage required by law shall not count towards the 5 percent limitation, but shall nonetheless follow rules related to visual obstruction.
- 4. Advertising and signage on windows and clear doors shall be placed and maintained in a manner that ensures that law enforcement personnel have a clear and unobstructed view of the interior of the outlets, including the area in which the cash registers are maintained, from exterior public sidewalks, parking lots, or entrance to the outlets.
- 5. Any establishment located within 250 feet of a sensitive use, as listed in Subsection E.1, shall not advertise alcohol sales in a manner visible from the outside of the establishment, such as from a public thoroughfare, sidewalk, or parking lot.

- 6. Displays of alcoholic beverages, freestanding advertising structures of any kind such as cardboard floor stands, or other free-standing signs shall be prohibited within 10 feet of consumer entrance points, shall not be visible from the exterior of the establishment, and shall be prohibited on the exterior of the establishment.
- M. Loitering and Other Nuisance Activities. The operation of the establishment shall not result in repeated nuisance activities on the property, which may include, but are not limited to, repeated disturbances of the peace, illegal drug activity, public drunkenness, drinking in public, alcoholic beverage and tobacco sales to minors, harassment of passerby, gambling, prostitution, sale of stolen goods, public urination, theft, assaults, batteries, acts of vandalism, loitering, excessive littering, graffiti, illegal parking, excessive loud noises (especially in the late night or early morning hours), traffic violations, curfew violations, lewd conduct, or other violations of City, State, or federal laws, especially when contributing to a proportionally high rate of police reports and arrests to the area. This section shall not apply to operators where offenses are the result of third party conduct beyond the operators' control.
- N. **Training.** The owners and all employees of the establishment who are involved in the sale of alcoholic beverages must complete approved course(s) in training of liquor sales and handling within sixty days after approval of the Conditional Use Permit becomes final, or for employees hired after the approval of the Conditional Use Permit, within sixty days from the date of hire. To satisfy this requirement, a certified program must meet the standards of the California Coordinating Council on Responsible Beverage Service (CCC/RBS) or other certifying or licensing body designated by the State of California.
- O. Compliance with Laws. The establishment must remain in compliance with all local, State, and federal laws, regulations, and orders, as well as all conditions of approval imposed on the use. This includes compliance with annual City business license fees. In the event of non-compliance, the operator shall be given written notice by the City and an opportunity to cure. Article 63 of Chapter 15, regarding Enforcement of the Citywide Development Code shall also apply in relation to compliance issues, in addition to the annual inspection requirements listed within Section R, below.
- P. **Posting of Conditions.** A copy of all conditions of approval and training requirements shall either be posted in a conspicuous and unobstructed place near the entrance, cashier counter, or customer service area of the establishment or posted in an employee area and provided upon request (e.g. via flyer or brochure) to patrons and enforcement officials.
- Q. **Prohibited Products.** The sale or distribution of one or more of the following shall be prohibited.
  - 1. Wine in containers of less than 750 milliliters.
  - 2. Single containers of beer, malt liquor, wine coolers, and similar alcoholic beverages not in original factory packages of three-packs or greater, subject to the following exception:
    - a. Craft beer which is originally packaged in a single 22 oz. bottle.
  - 3. Distilled spirits in containers of less than 375 milliliters.

4. Paper or plastic cups in quantities less than their usual and customary packaging.

### R. Additional Requirements.

- 1. The Director may require the applicant to submit additional information, of such type and in such form as the Director may specify, as the Director may deem relevant to the application, including, but not limited to, an operational statement, floor plans, architectural renderings, and technical studies, as appropriate.
- 2. The Director may refer the application to other City departments to determine whether the establishment's location will comply with building, health, zoning, and fire ordinances or other applicable ordinances or laws. City departments may conduct an inspection of the premises to determine compliance with the ordinances and other laws they administer, and may subsequently prepare reports summarizing their inspections and recommend whether to approve or deny the application based on their inspections.
- 3. Additional and/or security measures such as reduced hours of operation, security guards, door monitors, and burglar alarm systems may be required if harm, nuisance, or related problems are demonstrated to occur as a result of business practices or operations. This will be determined on a case-by-case basis upon review by the Police Department.
- 4. Establishments shall not acquire an ABC license for use that has been temporarily surrendered by another establishment in any jurisdiction, or is from an establishment located outside the City of Fresno or a County island within the City of Fresno. Establishments must comply with the Cancel and Transfer provisions, set forth below, which require an establishment to acquire active ABC licenses from overconcentrated areas in the City of Fresno.
- 5. Establishments shall be subject to annual inspection to ensure compliance with this Section and any additional conditions of the Conditional Use Permit. If an annual inspection results in a finding that an operator is not in compliance with this section or the specific conditions of the CUP, that finding may be used as a basis for revoking the CUP. An establishment that is subject to a revocation proceeding will be referred to the Responsible Neighborhood Market Act Committee for review and prior to the start of the revocation process.
  - a. If an operator is determined to be out of compliance with this section or the specific conditions of the CUP, that operator shall be subject to administrative fines set forth in the Master Fee Schedule as may be amended; the fine structure shall consist of progressively higher fines for violations occurring within twelve months of a prior violation, and upon the fourth violation being upheld within a three year period of the first violation, the CUP for the business shall be subject to revocation.
  - b. If an establishment operating under an existing ABC license is purchased by a unassociated and unrelated new operator seeking to continue operation of the establishment, and the new operator is not subject to administrative fines as set forth above at any other establishment in the City, the City Manager, with

concurrence of the City Attorney, may waive any administrative fines imposed upon the existing establishment upon transfer to the new operator, if the new operator agrees to and obtains a new CUP.

### S. Cancel and Transfer.

1. New establishments shall transfer and cancel ABC licenses in good standing as set forth in Table 15-2706 below, from within a Council District identified as having an overconcentration of ABC licenses for off-sale use, as determined by the Director following review of data prepared by the California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control. The ABC license will be submitted to the Alcoholic Beverage Control for permanent cancellation. A canceled ABC license cannot be reactivated or reinstated.

TABLE 15-2706: CANCEL AND TRANSFER RATIO

Retail Floor Area	Transfer	Cancel
Less than 10,000 square feet	2	1
10,000 to 30,000 square feet	3	2
More than 30,000 square feet	4	3

2. Each ABC license that is canceled also includes surrender of the alcohol-sales portion of all related Conditional Use Permits and waiver of any legal non-conforming use rights related to the sale of alcohol for off-site consumption.

### 3. Exemptions.

- a. The Cancel and Transfer requirements shall not apply when an establishment is required to relocate as the result of a taking by eminent domain and a license transfer to a new establishment site is necessary due to such taking.
- b. Existing establishments that seek to expand their floor area or extend their operating hours.
- c. Existing establishments that seek to relocate if the proposed relocation meets the requirements of Section 15-2706.F.7.
- d. Establishments with the primary use, based on information provided by the applicant, that has been determined by the Review Authority to meet the definition of a Full-Service Grocery Store, including a supermarket, neighborhood grocery store or a Healthy Food Grocer as defined in the Fresno Municipal Code.

(Added Ord. 2015-39, § 1, eff. 1-9-16; Am. Ord. 2020-045, § 1, eff. 11-15-20; Am. Ord. 2021-050, § 1, 1-17-22).